I. INTRODUCTION

This matter relates to the assessment of possessory interest

taxes on property leased by airlines at the SeaTac International

Airport, and a temporary assessment methodology adopted by the

Washington State Department of Revenue for assessed years 2006

- 2011. This temporary methodology assessed taxes on the Port of

Seattle's tax-exempt interest in the property and imposed this tax on

airlines, including Appellant, United Airlines, Inc. ("UAL").

UAL filed the underlying action seeking a refund of

possessory interest taxes paid under the "manifest error" provisions

of RCW 84.69.020, for its leased SeaTac airport properties for

assessed years 2009, 2010, and 2011. The Washington State

Department of Revenue acting on behalf of it interests and the

interests of King County (collectively "DOR") took the position that it:

(a) had not assessed taxes against UAL for the tax-exempt interest

of the Port of Seattle in the property; and (2) the methodology used

by the DOR was a matter of "appraiser judgment", which is exempt

from the "manifest error" provisions of RCW 84.69.020 and WAC

458-14-005. UAL presented expert testimony confirming the DOR

had assessed taxes against UAL in 2009, 2010 and 2011 for the Port



of Seattle's tax exempt interest - by failing to account for the

reversionary interest of the Port of Seattle and the term of the parties'

lease agreement. UAL also presented expert testimony confirming

that the relief sought by UAL's petition did not require the exercise of

appraisal judgment.

The trial court dismissed UAL's action on cross motions for

summary judgment (granting dismissal of claims against DOR and

King County) without explanation and also denied UAL's request to

amend its complaint. This appeal follows.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

No. 1: The lower court erred in entering the May 27, 2015

order granting DOR's motion for summary judgment, and denying

UAL's cross-motion for summary judgment.

No. 2: The lower court erred when it denied UAL's motion for

leave to file an Amended Complaint on June 9, 2015.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error:

1. Summary Judgment

Whether the trial court erred in granting the DOR's motion for

summary judgment and denying UAL's motion for summary

judgment on a claim for a refund of possessory interest taxes



assessed by the DOR for 2009, 2010 and 2011, for a "manifest error"

in description under RCW 84.69.020 where:

A. There was conflicting expert testimony and

evidence offered by the parties which created disputed issues

of material fact precluding entry of summary judgment (for

either party), specifically with respect to whether or not the

DOR's assessment methodology used from 2006-2011

resulted in the value of the Port of Seattle's tax-exempt

reversionary interest in the property being assessed and tax

against UAL.

B. In the alternative, UAL's motion for summary

judgment should have been granted and the DOR's motion

should have been denied because:

(i) The DOR utilized a direct capitalization

model which assumed a perpetual lease term for UAL's

interest in the Airline Properties;

(ii) UAL's actual lease expired in December

2012;

(iii) A "possessory interest" is defined by the

right to possess and use the property - as set forth in

the lease;



(iv) UAL's lease did not have any renewal or

options;

(v) A hypothetical perpetual lease term, as used

by the DOR, eliminates any reversionary interest,

taxing UAL for the fee interest value of the property -

which is exempt from taxation; and

(vi) The error can be corrected by reference to

the records alone and valuation methods applied to

similarly situated properties, without requiring the

exercise of appraisal judgment.

2. Motion to Amend Complaint

Whether UAL's Motion for Leave to File Amended Complaint

to reference the April 2014 petition should have been granted where:

(a) Under CR 15(a) leave to amend is to be "freely given";

(b) DOR admitted that allowing the amendment would not

result in any prejudice to DOR;

(c) The April 2014 petition referenced in the proposed

Amended Complaint expressly related back to the prior December

2012 petition;



(d) The proposed Amended Complaint did not assert any new

claims, was based on the same material facts, and arose out of the

same occurrence;

(e) The proposed amended complaint would relate back to

the filing of the original Complaint pursuant to CR 15(c); and

(f) Even if CR 15(d) applied, and the proposed Amended

Complaint were deemed a "supplemental pleading", UAL would

nonetheless be entitled to relation back to the original Complaint.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. UAL leases property at SeaTac Airport which is
subject to a possessory interest property tax.

UAL operates a commercial airline, including operations at

SeaTac International Airport in King County, Washington (the "Airline

Property"). SeaTac Airport is owned by the Port of Seattle and is

exempt from real estate tax. RCW 84.40.010(1). Leases of Port-

owned property are typically subject to a leasehold excise tax,

however the possessory interest of centrally assessed utilities

(including airlines like UAL) are subject to a "possessory interest" tax

in lieu of a leasehold excise tax. A "possessory interest" is not

defined by Washington statute or code, but is a term of art

recognized in the real estate appraisal industry and is akin to a



"leasehold interest" - though a possessory interest can exist in the

absence of a lease (e.g., a license agreement allowing use of

property, etc.). It is defined as the right of possession and use of real

property owned by a tax exempt public entity for a period of time.

The DOR specifically defines a possessory interest in its own

publication, Property Tax Bulletin #70-14, as:

Taxable possessory interests are private interests in
property owned by a tax exempt body, usually a public
agency.

A taxable possessory interest constitutes a private right
to the possession, and use of such property for a period
of time. It constitutes the ownership of property for
some time less than perpetuity. It is a portion of the
bundle of rights that would normally be included in fee
simple ownership, and its value therefore is normally
something less than the value in perpetuity of the
whole bundle.

CP 259. In the context of valuing a "possessory interest", Property

Tax Bulletin #70-14 states consideration must be given to the value

of the "reversionary" interest - which is the property interest of the

owner of fee title to the property. CP 259.

UAL entered into a lease with the Port of Seattle on January

1, 2006 for the use of certain defined airport property (the "Airport

Property"). CP 574-578; CP 579-693. This was a 6 year lease with

no renewal options set to expire on December 21, 2012. CP 579-



647. This Airport Property was subject to a possessory use tax,

assessed by the DOR.

2. Starting in 2006, the DOR changed its methodology
for assessing possessory interests in airline airport properties.

Until 2006, the DOR assessed Airport Properties using an

assumed lease term of 7 years. CP 299-302. Commencing in

assessment year 2006, the DOR decided to change its methodology

- by adopting a Direct Capitalization model and assuming a

hypothetical perpetual lease term for each property. CP 228-249;

CP 306; CP 309; CP 320-321; CP 452. This change in methodology

increased the assessed value of Airport Properties significantly. CP

452.

The DOR performed an assessment of UAL Airline Property

in 2009, 2010 and 2011. Within the assessment for each of the years

involved, Airport Property leased from the Port of Seattle was valued

and assessed using the DOR's new methodology which assumed a

perpetual lease term. CP 452. UAL paid the assessed taxes,

including the portion of the centrally-assessed taxes that were owing

for the SeaTac Airport Properties in 2009, 2010 and 2011. CP 453;

CP 575.

///
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///

3. In 2012, other airlines began to complain about the
DOR's new methodology for assessing Airport Properties, and
Southwest Airlines filed suit seeking a refund of taxes.

In 2012, certain airlines at SeaTac began to raise concerns

about the manner in which the DOR was assessing possessory

interests for Airport Property. CP 312-317. Alaska Airlines paid

certain taxes under protest and initiated a dialogue with the DOR

about the methodology implemented by the DOR to value

possessory interests since 2006. CP 304-310. Southwest Airlines

commenced suit against the DOR and King County alleging, inter

alia, that the DOR had improperly assessed the Airport Property

resulting in an increased assessed value for 2009 of over

$37,000,000 (including Southwest's Spokane Airport Property). CP

312-317. Based on these complaints, and input from other airlines

operating in Washington, the DOR began to re-evaluate its process

for assessing Airport Properties.

4. DOR's internal documents confirm the DOR was
aware its methodology for assessing possessory interests was
taxing these properties at their fee simple value.

Kathy Beith, the Assistant director of Property Tax Division at

the DOR since 2011, issued a Director's Briefing Document on April

25, 2012 which noted the following:



The Department assess the property of Alaska Airlines,
and other airplane companies, which also includes
airport property such as gates, terminals and common
areas. The leased airport property are typically subject
to a leasehold excise tax (LET) however the
possessory leases of centrally assessed airlines are
exempt from LET and subject to property tax. The
possessory leases of Alaska Airlines are assessed in
the same manner as if they owned the property. . . .

CP 304-305. This memo stated the questions presented for the DOR

in reviewing its methodology for assessing airline possessory

interests were a "legal interpretation and not valuation" questions.

CP 305. Notwithstanding this admission, DOR has maintained

throughout the present lawsuit that UAL's claim is a "valuation" issue.

CP 704-707; Transcript of Proceedings (May 22, 2015), p.31.

5. DOR admits that the process used in 2006-2011
assessed possessory interests at fee interest value.

The DOR acknowledged, in assessing the airline airport

properties, it is attempting to assess the possessory interest of the

airline company, which is "something less than the fee interest in the

property". CP319. It also acknowledged that the methodology used

by the DOR from 2006 to 2012 to value possessory interests of

airline properties, resulted in an increased assessed value of at least

three times the previously assessed value of the same properties.

CP 320-321

10



Facing litigation by Southwest Airlines and likely litigation by

Alaska Airlines, the DOR changed its policy for valuing possessory

interests starting in 2012 for certain airlines and in 2013 (assessed

year 2012) for the entire industry, agreeing to use the actual lease

term instead of a hypothetical perpetual lease. CP 943-944. Prior

to adopting a final revision, the DOR temporarily adopted a

methodology using the actual lease term (this temporary

methodology was later formally adopted) and in an internal

discussion document ("Airline Possessory Lease Appraisal Method

Update") the DOR noted:

Current temporary method. Based [on] the risk of
potential litigation the Department changed the
methodology used between 2006 - 2011 by utilizing
the actual lease term, or one-year as a minimum to
value only the possessory interest. This insures [sic]
that no tax-exempt port property is taxed is being value
or taxed.

CP 943-944.

The DOR acknowledged avoiding taxing exempt property was

"certainly a part of the reasoning that went into the decision" to

change the methodology. CP 322-323. This same document,

affirmed by Ms. Beith in her deposition testimony provides a

compelling admissions by the DOR:

11



Because the core issue was based in legal

interpretation and not valuation, we requested
guidance from the Attorney General's on the following
two issues:

• What interest or rights are taxable for
possessory interests?

• Is the length of the taxpayer's actual
lease a determining factor when
determining the value of the reversionary
interest held by the government entity?

Based on their response, considering significant
litigation risks, and several court cases that lend
support to the pre-2006 method, we changed our
appraisal method. . . .

CP 325-326; CP 310. The DOR also admitted:

A possessory interest is valued at something less than the entire

bundle of rights associated with fee ownership. CP 328. A

possessory interest is the right of ownership of property for some

time less than perpetuity. CP 328-329. The methodology used by

the DOR from 2006-2011 assumed a zero value for the reversionary

interests of the Port. CP 330-331. The methodology used by the

DOR from 2006 - 2011 valued the possessory interests of the airline

airport properties as if they owned the fee interest in the property.

CP 333

///
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6. UAL's Airport Property was assessed and taxed for
the years 2009, 2010 and 2011 based on the DOR's methodology
assuming a hypothetical perpetual lease term.

The DOR computed the assessed value of the Airline Property

for UAL, apportioned the property and equalized the values that were

provided to King County for 2009, 2010 and 2011 using a direct

capitalization method which presumed a perpetual lease term -

notwithstanding the fact that UAL's actual lease term expired on

December 31, 2012. CP 451-453; CP 576; CP 581. The assessed

value of the Airline Property within King County provided by the State

of Washington was then used to compute personal property taxes

for UAL that were assessed for 2009, 2010 and 2011. Id. Personal

property taxes assessed to UAL for 2009, 2010 and 2011 were paid

by UAL in 2010, 2011 and 2012. Id.

Upon discovering the DOR was utilizing a perpetual lease

term, which effectively taxed the Airport Property as if UAL owned

the property in fee, Duff & Phelps, acting as UAL's authorized agent,

filed a claim under RCW 84.69.020 dated December 31, 2012,

requesting a refund of taxes paid as a result of a manifest error in

description. CP 454; CP 581-582; CP 576. The request for refund

is based on a "manifest error in description" of the property taxed.

Specifically, the DOR by utilizing a perpetual lease term in its direct

13



capitalization assessment methodology, effectively assessed and

taxed the Port of Seattle's fee interest in the Airport Property (which

is exempt from taxation). CP 228-249; CP 446-455. In a letter dated

February 19, 2013, King County denied the refund requests of UAL,

asserting that the claim for refund was based on a disagreement with

the valuation of operating property as determined by the DOR. CP

530

On April 29, 2014, as an authorized agent acting on behalf of

UAL with UAL's express permission and approval, Mr. Perkins

presented a property tax refund request to the King County Treasurer

seeking refund of the same possessory interest taxes paid by UAL

for assessed years 2009, 2010 and 2011. CP 446-455,544-573; CP

576-577; CP 582-583. Bill Gile, Senior Manager of Tax for UAL

signed the petition. CP 455. In a letter dated May 7, 2014, King

County denied the UAL's April 29, 2014 Petition for Property Tax

Refund, asserting that the claim did not involve a manifest error in

the description of the property. CP 558-559.

The total tax refund due to UAL for assessed years 2009,

2010 and 2011 is calculated as follows: 2009 (2010 taxes) $555,906;

2010 (2011 taxes) $473,594; 2011 (2012 taxes) $548,165. CP 455.

14



IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A. The trial court's rulings on the Cross-Motions for
Summary Judgment were in error and should be reversed.

This matter relates to the assessment of possessory interest

taxes on UAL-leased property located at the SeaTac Airport, which

is owned by the Port of Seattle, and the property is thus tax-exempt.

However, under a specific provision in Washington law, UAL's

possessory leasehold interest is taxable.

From 2006 to 2011, DOR changed its methodology for

assessing airline airport property possessory interests. During this

period, the DOR utilized a direct capitalization model which assumed

a perpetual lease term for all airline interests in Airline Properties -

instead of using the existing actual lease terms. UAL executed a six

(6) year lease for its airline properties in 2006, which was set to

expire in December2012-with no renewal options. The DOR chose

to ignore this lease term and assume a hypothetical perpetual lease

term in making its assessments from 2006 - 2011. By doing so, the

DOR valued the entire "bundle of rights" owned by the property

owner (the tax-exempt interest of the Port of Seattle) in fee simple

and assessed this tax on UAL. DOR admitted in its own internal

documents that the reversionary interest, the tax exempt interest of

15



the Port, is "nil" under the model it used from 2006 to 2011. If the

reversionary interest is zero, then DOR was taxing the full fee interest

of the properties, including the exempt reversionary interest, when it

assessed and taxed UAL's airport property in 2009, 2010, and 2010.

This is a "manifest error" because it taxed exempt property and

imposed this tax on airlines (including UAL); and the error can be

cured without resorting to appraisal judgment, as noted by DOR's

own internal documents referencing the issued as a "legal" question,

not a "value" question.

The trial court's decision on the Cross-Motions for summary

judgment should be reversed in light of the disputed material facts

presented by the parties, including expert testimony. The DOR's

own documents and witness deposition testimony indicate the

methodology utilized for valuing airline possessory interests from

2006 - 2012 assumed a "perpetual" lease term, valued the airlines'

leased airport properties at or near fee interest value, and assumed

a reversionary interest of "nil". The DOR's own witness, Neal Cook,

contradicted this position in his declaration offered in support of the

DOR's motion, claiming that the DOR methodology was not a

"perpetuity model", did not value the possessory interests at fee

simple value, and did not include an assessment for the reversionary

16



interest of the Port of Seattle. To the extent Mr. Cook can be

considered an expert qualified to offer opinions, the "opinions" stated

in his declaration were expressly contradicted by UAL's expert,

David Hunnicutt. Specifically, Mr. Hunnicutt opined that the DOR's

methodology failed to account for the reversionary interest of the Port

of Seattle, and effectively taxed UAL as if it owned the property in fee

simple.

The conflicting positions stated in the DOR's own documents

and offered by the DOR's own witnesses, juxtaposed with the expert

testimony offered by UAL's expert witness, confirmed that there were

disputed issues of material fact which precluded the entry of

summary judgment - for either party. The trial court erred in granting

DOR's motion, and the matter should be remanded for trial.

In the alternative, the trial court's order granting DOR's motion

for summary judgment and denying UAL's motion for summary

judgment should be reversed: denying DOR's motion and granting

UAL's motion. To correct the manifest error, the DOL can simply use

the present value of the existing net lease payment over the

remaining period of the lease at, adjusted by a discount rate.

///

17



B. The trial court erred in denying UAL's Motion to
Amend its Complaint, and should be reversed.

UAL sought to amend its Complaint to make reference to the

supplemental petition presented by UAL to King County in April 2014

- which related to the same claims, same facts, and the same

occurrence. King County did not assert any objection or contest the

fact that these revised petitions related back to the December 2012

petition. Nor did the DOR claim any prejudice as a result of such

proposed amendment. The trial court nonetheless denied the motion

CR 15(c) provides amended pleadings arising out of the same

"conduct, transaction or occurrence" relate back to the filing of the

original complaint. Here, it is the same conduct, transaction and

occurrence that is at issue: the DOR's methodology for assessing

UAL's possessory interests of airport property for tax years 2009,

2010 and 2011 and the DOR's denial of the requested refund.

Even if this Court finds CR 15(d) applied to the case at bar,

UAL'sAmended Complaint still relates back under CR 15(c). CR 15

and FRCP 15 are substantially similar. Federal courts have been

clear Rules 15(c) and 15(d) can be considered together and that

"supplemental" claims relate back to the initial filing if the claims arise

out of the same conduct, transaction or occurrence. Therefore, the

18



trial court erred when it denied UAL's request for an order allowing

the filing of an Amended Complaint.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Faced with disputed issues of material fact the Trial
Court erred when it granted UAL's motion: in the alternative.
UAL's motion for summary judgment should have been
granted and DOR's motion for summary judgment should
have been denied.

1. Rulings on Summary Judgment are reviewed de
novo.

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