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

argument on both motions, the superior court found that no genuine issues 

of material fact were in dispute, granted summary judgment to the 

Department, and denied United's cross-motion. CP 839. The court also 

denied a motion United had filed nine days before the scheduled summary 

judgment hearing seeking leave to file an amended complaint. CP 745 

(motion); CP 842 (order denying motion). United has appealed from both 

the summary judgment order and the order denying leave to file an 

amended complaint. CP 845. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard Of Review. 

Under Washington's property tax laws, the value determination of 

the state or local official charged with the duty of establishing that value is 

presumed to be correct and will be reversed only by clear, cogent and 

convincing evidence. RCW 84.40.0301. "Clear, cogent and convincing 

evidence is evidence which is weightier and more convincing than a 
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preponderance of the evidence, but which need not reach the level of 

'beyond a reasonable doubt." In re the Disciplinary Proceeding Against 

Deming, 108 Wn.2d 82, 109, 736 P.2d 639, 744 P.2d 340 (1987) (quoting 

Davis v. Dep'tofLabor & Indus., 94 Wn.2d 119, 126, 615 P.2d 1279 

(1980)). Here, United is challenging the value determination of the 

Department of Revenue, which is tasked with the duty to value the 

property owned or used by inter-county utilities and transportation 

companies. See RCW 84.12.270; Flight Options, LLC v. Dep 't of 

Revenue, 172 Wn.2d 487, 501, 259 P.3d 234 (2011). 

The trial court decided the matter on summary judgment. On 

appeal, this Court reviews summary judgments de novo. Reed-Jennings v. 

Baseball Club of Seattle, L.P., 188 Wn. App. 320, 327, 531 P.3d 887 

(2015). Under Civil Rule 56(c), a summary judgment "shall be rendered 

forthwith" if the materials before the court "show that there is no genuine 

issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a 

judgment as a matter of law." A "material" fact is one that affects the 

outcome of the litigation. Disputes about facts that do not affect the 

outcome of the case are not material and do not preclude summary 

judgment. Elcon Constr., Inc. v. E. Wash. Univ., 174 Wn.2d 157, 164, 

273 P.3d 965 (2012); accordAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 

11 



242, 248, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 91 L. Ed. 2d 202 (1986) (interpreting Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 56). 

A trial court's decision regarding a motion to amend a complaint is 

reviewed for abuse of discretion. McDonald v. State Farm Fire and Cas. 

Co., 119 Wn.2d 724, 737, 837 P.2d 1000 (1992). It is not an abuse of 

discretion to deny a motion to amend when the new claims raised in the 

amended complaint would be futile. Doyle v. Planned Parenthood, 31 

Wn. App. 126, 131, 639 P.2d 240 (1982). 

Here, the superior court properly concluded that the Department 

and King County were entitled to judgment as a matter of law and 

affirmed the King County Assessor's denial of United's property tax 

refund claim. The superior court also properly denied United's motion for 

leave to amend its complaint, which raised no new claims. 

B. The King County Assessor Correctly Denied United's 
Administrative Refund Claim. 

Persons seeking a refund of property taxes may bring an action in 

superior court under RCW 84.68, or may seek administrative review by 

county officials under RCW 84.69. The procedural requirements under 

these two refund chapters differ in material respects, as do the nature of 

the allowed claims. In order to bring an action in superior court to recover 

unlawful or excessive property tax assessments, the taxpayer must have 

12 



paid the disputed tax under written protest "setting forth all of the grounds 

upon which such tax is claimed to be unlawful or excessive." RCW 

84.68.020. In addition, the action must be initiated by filing a complaint 

on or before June 30 of the year following the year the disputed taxes were 

payable. RCW 84.68.060. 

United did not pay its assessment year 2009 though 2011 property 

taxes under written protest, VRP 18, In. 24, nor did it file a complaint in 

superior court within the limited time permitted under RCW 84.68.060. 

As a result, the "payment under protest" refund chapter did not apply. 

Instead, United sought a refund under the administrative refund chapter, 

RCW 84.69. That Chapter allows for an administrative refund claim to be 

filed with the county treasurer without the need to pay the tax under 

written protest. See RCW 84.69.170. However, the county is authorized 

to refund taxes only in specified circumstances, and may not refund any 

taxes based on "any error in determining the valuation ofproperty, except 

as authorized in subsections (9), (10), (11), and (12) of this section." 

RCW 84.69.020 (emphasis added).5  In addition, the claim for refund must 

be verified by the person who paid the tax, must be filed within three years 

The specific circumstances where a county is authorized to refund taxes are 
listed in RCW 84.69.020 and include situations where the taxes were paid more than 
once, were paid as a result of a manifest error in the description of the property, were 
paid as a result of a clerical error in listing the property, or if the value of the property has 
been reduced by either a county board of equalization or the state Board of Tax Appeals. 
See RCW 84.69.020(1)-(16). 
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from the due date of the tax payment sought to be refunded, and must state 

the ground upon which the refund is claimed. RCW 84.69.030(1). The 

person claiming the refund must first exhaust its administrative remedies 

with the county before seeking judicial review. RCW 84.69.130. And 

judicial review is limited to only those grounds asserted in the claim for 

refund. Id. 

1. Because United's refund claim involved a dispute over 
appraisal methodology, it necessarily involved a dispute 
over the value of United's interest in leased property. 

The "payment under protest" avenue is the avenue by which a 

taxpayer can seek a refund if it disagrees with the assessed value of its 

property, and the administrative refund provisions are reserved for 

clerical-type errors that do not involve a dispute over the value of 

property. United did not pay its property taxes under written protest. 

Consequently, it was forced to find a creative way to recast its claim as a 

mere clerical error. The King County Assessor easily saw through the 

subterfuge. 

United identified RCW 84.69.020(2) as the statutory ground for its 

refund claim. CP 120. RCW 84.69.020(2) provides that the county may 

refund taxes that were paid as a result of a "manifest error in description" 

of the property. The term "manifest error" means "an error in listing or 

assessment, which does not involve a revaluation of property." WAC 
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458-14-005(14). For example, a manifest error in description occurs if the 

assessor misidentifies the subject property, overstates the size of the 

subject property, or makes other errors that do not require the exercise of 

appraisal judgment. See CP 342, n. 16 (manifest error relating to a non-

existent tennis court included in the initial appraisal); CP 359 (manifest 

error relating to the assessor's "erroneous measurement" of two parcels of 

real property); CP 365-66 (manifest error based on assessor's "erroneous 

measurement" and use of "incorrect characteristic data"). Thus, under the 

administrative refund statutes, a county official can correct errors in 

describing or listing property on the assessment rolls, but not errors in 

valuing property. 

In the refund claim filed with King County, United asserted that 

there was a manifest error in the 2009 through 2011 property assessments 

prepared by the Department, that the purported error was "[t]he 

assessment of property exempted by law from taxation," and that the 

overpaid taxes resulting from the purported manifest error could be 

determined without revaluing the property. CP 120, CP 124. More 

specifically, United argued that the Department valued the Port of 

Seattle's "fee simple" interest in the leased property, which includes the 

Port's reversionary interest. CP 123. 
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The King County Assessor denied the claim, explaining that the 

claim was "based on your disagreement with the valuation of operating 

property as determined by the Department of Revenue." CP 148. The 

Assessor also explained that RCW 84.69.020 prohibits a refund based on 

any error in determining the value of property except in circumstances not 

applicable to United's claim. Id. 

The Assessor was correct. The refund claim pertained to United's 

disagreement with the method the Department used to value United's 

possessory interest in property leased from the Port of Seattle. During 

2009 through 2011 the Department used a "residual approach" to estimate 

the value of possessory interests in government-owned property. CP 033 

(Beith Deci., ¶ 23); see also CP 172-76 (Cook Dccl., ¶J 12-21, explaining 

the method employed and the appraisal theory supporting the method). 

The residual approach is one of the three approaches authorized by the 

Department of Revenue in 1970. See CP 032 (Beith Dccl., ¶ 15); CP 054. 

More importantly, that approach is consistent with Washington law. 

The value of the taxable possessory interest in government-owned 

property is the amount that a willing buyer would pay a willing seller for 

the lessee's rights in the property without any reduction on account of the 

rent payments or other debts owed by the lessee. RCW 84.40.030(2); Pier 

67, Inc. v. King County, 78 Wn.2d 48, 57-58, 469 P.2d 902 (1970). This is 
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equivalent to the lump sum amount a willing buyer would pay a willing 

lessee for the lessee's rights in the property without taking on the lessee's 

capital debt. Pier 67, 78 Wn.2d at 57 (lessee's debt "does not represent a 

burden on the leasehold"). Valuing those rights requires the exercise of 

appraisal judgment, and "the assessor has a number of appraisal methods 

at his disposal" in measuring fair market value. Id. No single method is 

mandatory. Id. 

In Pier 67, the Supreme Court addressed some of the facts and 

circumstances that an assessor may consider when valuing a possessory 

interest in property owned by the State. 

The market value of a leasehold is to be measured 
by considering both benefits to be garnered from the use of 
the property over the term of the lease and the burdens 
placed upon it. Burdens on the leasehold are restrictions 
which limit its use. These burdens may arise from zoning 
ordinances or other legal limits on land use or may be 
restrictions imposed by the terms of the lease itself. 

The benefits of a leasehold may stem from its 
economic productivity. It cannot be valued without 
reasonable knowledge of its probable remaining life. 
Further, an option to renew the lease may increase the 
value of the leasehold because it may afford an opportunity 
to extend the duration of the benefits. 

Id. at 57-58. These factors are not exclusive. Id. at 58. Rather, the 

assessor "must consider all relevant circumstances pertinent and helpful in 

making his assessment within the ambit of the applicable statutes." Id. 
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Based on the valuation principles discussed in Pier 67, it is 

apparent that valuing possessory interests in government-owned property 

is not a purely mechanical endeavor. Rather, judgment must be exercised 

by the appraiser. Stated somewhat differently, the appraisal of property is 

"an attempt by humans to establish the true value of property pursuant to 

legal guidelines," and the process leaves "ample room for the necessary 

exercise of discretion on the part of the assessor." Folsom v. County of 

Spokane, 111 Wn.2d 256, 271, 759 P.2d 1196 (1988). 

Although United attempts to cast its refund claim as a correction to 

a "manifest error," the underlying dispute pertains to United's claim that 

the Department erred when it valued United's interest in property it leased 

from the Port of Seattle. As discussed below, the Department did not err 

in making this valuation. But even if it had, United's refund claim still 

fails because administrative refund claims cannot be based on an error in 

valuation. RCW 84.69.020. 

2. The Department did not err in valuing United's 
possessory interest in port-owned property. 

The refund claim filed on behalf of United was based on the false 

premise that the Department of Revenue erred by including tax exempt 

property within the 2009 through 2011 assessed values of United's 

possessory interest in the property it leased from the Port of Seattle. CP 
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120. The Department did not err. Rather, the Department simply used a 

more complex "residual" method for valuing United's interest in the port-

owned property that applies different appraisal techniques and appraisal 

assumptions than the simplified "imputed return" approach used in 2012. 

The residual method produced a rational and valid estimate of the fair 

market value of United's interest in the port-owned property, which is not 

exempt from tax. 

Under the residual method the Department employed during 2009 

through 2011, the market value of a possessory interest was determined by 

a two-step process. In the first step, the value of the lessee's beneficial 

rights in the leased property was computed using a "direct capitalization" 

model that capitalized the net lease payments for a single year into an 

estimate of value. For airplane companies like United that leased property 

from the Port of Seattle, the Department used a capitalization rate derived 

from its review of "cap rate studies" developed and published by the 

PriceWaterhouseCoopers accounting and consulting firm. CP 174 (Cook 

Decl., ¶ 18). The Department used a capitalization rate at the high end of 

the overall capitalization rate range "in order to derive a conservative 

value estimate." CP 174-75 (Cook Decl., ¶ 18). The Department also 

presumed that the rent United paid for the use of the Port-owned property 

was the "market rent" that a willing lessee would pay a willing lessor for 
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the specific property rights being transferred. See CP 173 (Cook Deci., ¶ 

13). Thus, the direct capitalization method employed by the Department 

valued only those property rights that were transferred to United; not the 

Port's fee simple interest in the property. CP 176 (Cook Deci., ¶ 22). 

In the second step of the calculation, the government-owner's 

reversionary interest was considered and was subtracted if it had any 

material value. CP 175 (Cook Decl., ¶ 19). The Department considered 

both the stated term of the lease agreement and the established course of 

dealing between the non-exempt lessee and the government lessor when 

determining the value, if any, of the government's reversionary interest. 

Id. When the relevant facts and circumstances suggest that the lease will 

continue to be renewed into the foreseeable future, the government 

owner's reversionary interest was considered to be minimal. Id. 

With respect to United, the Department concluded that United's 

lease with the Port would likely continue to be renewed into the 

foreseeable future and, as a result, the Port's reversionary interest was 

estimated to be of no present value. United has leased property from the 

Port of Seattle since the mid-1940s when Sea-Tac International Airport 

was constructed. CP 112 (answer to interrogatory no. 2). Some of the 

leases have been of relatively short duration, but they have always been 

renewed. From this roughly 60-year course of dealing, it was reasonable 



for the Department to conclude that United would continue to lease 

operating property from the Port for the foreseeable future. Moreover, 

consistent with the holding in Pier 67, the course of dealing between the 

lessee and the tax exempt government owner of the property is relevant in 

determining the "probable remaining life" of the lessee's interest in the 

leased property. Pier 67, 78 Wn.2d at 58. If the law were otherwise, a 

lessee such as United would have a financial incentive to enter into a 

series of short-term lease agreements rather than a long term lease. See 

CP 150 (7/19/12 email from tax consulting firm to United's Property Tax 

Manager warning against entering into a long term lease with the Port of 

Seattle). 

The Department did not err in considering this 60-plus-year course 

of dealing between United and the Port of Seattle, or in concluding that the 

lease agreement would likely be renewed into the foreseeable future. In 

fact, United conceded that it has no plans to discontinue leasing property 

from the Port of Seattle for use in its operations at Sea-Tac airport.. CP 

116 (answer to interrogatory no. 5). Thus, it was entirely rational for the 

Department to conclude that the value of the Port's reversionary interest 

was minimal and had no material impact on the fair market value of 

United's possessory interest. 

21 



The Department, in its role as appraiser, enjoys "broad discretion 

to determine the proper method of appraisement." Chief Seattle 

Properties, Inc. v. Kitsap County, 86 Wn.2d 7, 25, 541 P.2d 699 (1975) 

(citing Pier 67). The Department did not abuse that discretion when it 

estimated the market value of United's possessory interest in government-

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